

# LOCAL CLASSIFICATION OF PAIRS OF SINGULAR FOLIATIONS IN DIMENSION 2

Adjaratou Arame Diaw

## ▶ To cite this version:

Adjaratou Arame Diaw. LOCAL CLASSIFICATION OF PAIRS OF SINGULAR FOLIATIONS IN DIMENSION 2. 2024. hal-04612879

## HAL Id: hal-04612879 https://hal.science/hal-04612879v1

Preprint submitted on 14 Jun 2024

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

## LOCAL CLASSIFICATION OF PAIRS OF SINGULAR FOLIATIONS IN DIMENSION 2.

#### ADJARATOU ARAME DIAW

ABSTRACT. We study the analytic classification of pairs of singular holomorphic foliations in ( $\mathbb{C}^2$ , 0). We show that a pair of reduced, non-degenerate foliations with common separatrices and a simple tangency is entirely determined by a complete set of invariants composed of: the pair of holonomy representations, the couple of Camacho-Sad indices and the common separatrices.

## Contents

Introduction	1
Notations	3
1. Basic issues of local nature	3
1.1. Family of objects one wants to study	3
1.2. The notion of equivalence of germs of foliations	5
1.3. The invariant to understand if foliations are equivalent	6
1.4. Analytic classification of reduced foliations	9
2. Local analytic classification of pairs of foliations: Path method	10
3. Transversely formal classification of pairs of foliations	13
4. Analytic classification of pairs of singular foliations on $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$	16
4.1. Local classification of the pair of regular foliations with common leaf	16
4.2. Global classification of pairs of regular foliations along a common leaf.	18
4.3. Analytic classification of pairs of foliation in the neighborhood of a corona	18
4.4. On the transversely formal symmetries of pairs of singular foliations	20
References	23

## INTRODUCTION

Pairs of foliations appear in many domains of mathematics namely in partial differential equations and differential geometry. Their classification has application to the quadratic differential equations (i.e. the theory of the holomorphic 2-web on manifolds) and to the study of Hilbert modular surfaces using modular foliations (see [2]). By flow-box theorem, every pair of tranverse regular foliations on complex surface can be locally straightened as a pair of foliations by vertical lines and horizontal lines. Therefore, all the important features of pairs of foliations occur on a the tangency set. In fact, the classification of the pair of foliations depends heavily on the nature of the tangency set. However, in [14], O.Thom shows that the classification of pairs of foliation is quite complicated even if the foliations are regular and the tangency set is normal crossings. Which makes it possible to affirm that such a classification proves even more difficult in the case where the foliations

Date: June 14, 2024.

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 32M25, 32S65, 34C20, 34M35.

Key words and phrases. Foliations, Web, Holonomy, Symmetries, Path Method.

We warmly thank Jorge Vitório Pereira and Frédéric Touzet for useful discussions.

are singular. In [4], we state that almost all the local models of a configuration (i.e. pair of foliations + the tangency set) after resolution of the singularities on a compact complex surface are known except one. Therefore, in this article, we are going to focus on this last case. In other terms, we want to give an analytic/formal classification of a pair of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  on a complex surface S satisfying the following conditions:

- (1) The tancency set  $Tang(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2) = T$  consists of invariant algebraic curves by foliations  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$ ;
- (2) the divisor T is normal crossings such that  $Sing(\mathcal{F}_1) = Sing(\mathcal{F}_2) = Sing(T)$ ;
- (3) The singularities of  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  are reduced and non-degenerated.

To do this, we will first focus on the local classification of such pairs in the neighborhood of singular points. More precisely, in this article, our main goal is to give a classification of germs of pairs of reduced singular foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  with simple tangency. Our main result is the following:

**Theorem A** (Main result). Let  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  be germs of pairs of foliations defined by:

$$\mathcal{F}_i = \langle xdy - \lambda_i y(1 + f_i(x, y))dx \rangle, \quad \mathcal{G}_i = \langle xdy - \lambda_i y(1 + g_i(x, y))dx \rangle,$$

such that  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ , both non-zero. If there exists, for i = 1, 2, a germ of analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi_i \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  preserving each component of the curve of the separatrices  $\{xy = 0\}$  and conjugating  $\mathcal{F}_i$  to  $\mathcal{G}_i$ , i.e.

$$\Phi_i^* \mathfrak{G}_i = \mathfrak{F}_i$$

then there exists a germ of analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  conjugating the pairs of foliations,

$$\Phi^* \mathcal{G}_i = \mathcal{F}_i, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

This main result can be reformulated as:

**Theorem A(bis).** Let  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  be a germ of a pair of foliations defined as:

$$\mathcal{F}_i = \langle xdy - \lambda_i y(1 + f_i(x, y))dx \rangle \quad i = 1, 2$$

such that  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ , both non-zero. Any germ of analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  preserving each component of the curve of the separatrices  $\{xy = 0\}$  decomposes in the form

$$\Phi = \Phi_1 \circ \Phi_2$$

where  $\Phi_i$  is a germ of analytic diffeomorphism preserving the foliation  $\mathcal{F}_i$ , i.e

$$\Phi_i^* \mathcal{F}_i = \mathcal{F}_i, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

The proof of the main result will be done in two different ways. At first, we are going to give a proof based on the path method introduced by Jürgen Moser (see [11]). This method consists essentially in replacing the problem of conjugation of pairs of foliations to that of conjugation of path of pairs by making an unfolding of the pair of foliations in ( $\mathbb{C}^3$ , 0). Furthermore, using this technique, we notice that, we can even generalize our main result for pairs of foliation with any order of tangency  $k \ge 1$  along separatrices.

On the other hand, we give another proof of this result by introducing a new method which is sharper than the path method in the sense that it highlights all the complete invariants of a pair of foliations. Indeed, in the method of the path, only the order of tangency of the pair of foliations is taken into account.

Inspired by the work of F. Loray in (see [5]) and that of recently published by F. Loray, F. Touzet and O. Thom (see [7]), we define an invariant, a meromorphic one-form along a separatrix which measures the divergence of a pair of foliations along this separatrix.

Thus, by considering pairs of foliations with this same invariant, we can construct a local conjugation of the pairs of foliations in the neighborhood of a point in the punctured horizontal separatrix, denoted by  $H := \{y = 0\} \setminus \{0\}$ . After this, it suffices to find a way to extend this conjugation around the punctured disc H. In this work, we show that this extension is possible only if the foliation  $\mathcal{F}_1$  (resp.  $\mathcal{F}_2$ ) has the same monodromy as the foliation  $\mathcal{G}_1$  (resp.  $\mathcal{G}_2$ ). This is summarized by the following theorem:

**Theorem B.** Let  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  be two germs of pairs of foliations. Let us denote by  $h_{\mathcal{F}_i}$  (resp.  $h_{\mathcal{G}_i}$ ) the germ of holonomy of the foliation  $\mathcal{F}_i$  (resp.  $\mathcal{G}_i$ ) with respect to the horizontal separatrix.

If there are two germs of analytic diffeomorphisms  $\varphi_1$  and  $\varphi_2$  in  $(\mathbb{C}, 0)$  which conjugate the holonomies along the horizontal separatrix, i.e.

$$h_{\mathfrak{F}_1} = \varphi_1 \circ h_{\mathfrak{F}_1} \circ \varphi_1^{-1}$$
 and  $h_{\mathfrak{F}_2} = \varphi_2 \circ h_{\mathfrak{F}_2} \circ \varphi_2^{-1}$ .

then there exists a neighborhood U of a corona on H and a germ of analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi$  on this neighborhood conjugating the pairs of foliations:

$$\Phi^* \mathcal{F}_i = \mathcal{G}_i$$
 on U.

Finally, the additional work that remains to be done is to find an analytic extension of this germ diffeomorphism  $\Phi$  in the neighborhood of the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ . To obtain this kind of extension, we will use the fact that there is a transversely formal germ of diffeomorphism  $\widehat{\Phi}$  defined on the disk and which conjugates the pairs of foliations. Furthermore, it is important to emphasize that the existence of this transversely formal conjugation relies on the formal version of the theorem A(bis).

In this paper, we also pointed out some special results concerning pairs of foliations no longer having simple tangency divisor. However, it is important to mention that, the study of such pairs deserves more attention and we would hope to investigate it in another work.

The structure of this paper is composed of four sections. In the first section, we define all of the basic notions required for the understanding of the classification of pairs of singular foliations. The second section is entirely devoted to the analytic classification of pairs of foliations by passing through the path method. In the third section, we introduce the notion of transversely formal classification of pairs of foliations with a simple tangency and finally, in the fourth section, we give a complete list of analytic invariant to classify the germs of pairs of singular foliations.

Notations. Denote the ring of formal series on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  by  $\widehat{\mathbb{O}}_2$ , its maximal ideal by  $\widehat{\mathfrak{m}}_2$ and the group of formal diffeomorphisms of  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  by  $\widehat{\mathrm{Diff}}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . The convergent settings of the previous sets are the germs of holomorphic functions on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  denoted by  $\mathcal{O}_2$ , its maximal idea denoted by  $\mathfrak{m}_2$ , and the group of diffeomorphisms of  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  by  $\mathrm{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . Let us denote by  $\mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  (resp.  $\widehat{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ ) the set of germ of holomorphic (resp. formal) vector field at  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ , with an isolated singularity at the origin. In addition, note that, in the sequel, any germ of vector fields will be identified by one of its representative in a sufficiently small neighborhood of  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ .

## 1. Basic issues of local nature

1.1. Family of objects one wants to study. Let S be a complex surface. A local one-form on S is a pair  $(U, \omega)$  of an open set  $U \subseteq S$  and a holomorphic one-form  $\omega$  defined in U.

**Definition 1.1.** A singular foliation on S is a collection  $\mathcal{F} = \{(U_i, \omega_i)_{i \in I}\}$  of local oneforms with isolated zeros such that:

- (1)  $\{U_i\}$  is an open covering of S.
- (2) For each pair  $i, j \in I$ , if  $U_i \cap U_i \neq \emptyset$ , then

$$\omega_i = \varphi_{ij} \, \omega_j$$

for some non-vanishing holomorphic function  $\varphi_{ij}$  defined on  $U_i \cap U_j$ .

**Remark 1.2.** The singular locus of the foliation  $\mathcal{F}$  is given by the union of the singular locus of each one-form  $\omega_i$ . We have:

$$Sing(\mathfrak{F}) = \bigcup_{i \in I} Sing(\omega_i).$$

Note that, by duality we can define the foliation  $\mathcal{F}$  by replacing the one-forms  $\omega_i$  by their dual vector fields  $X_i$  ( i.e  $\forall i \in I$ ,  $\omega_i(X_i) = 0$ ). This dual is uniquely determined up a multiplicative invertible function.

We say that a local one-form  $(U, \omega)$  on S is a local generator of the foliation  $\mathcal{F}$  if the augmented collection

$$\{(U_i,\omega_i)_{i\in I}\}\cup\{(U,\omega)\}$$

satisfies the conditions (1) and (2) of the above definition. From now on, we will suppose that the collection  $\mathcal{F}$  is satured, meaning that it contains all such generators.

In this work, we are interested in a germ of holomorphic singular foliations. Roughly speaking, a germ of foliation at  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$  is given by a germ of local generator  $(U, \omega)$  at 0. Throughout this article, unless otherwise stated, any germ of a foliation is represented by a holomorphic one-form  $\omega$  defined an open neighborhood of  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$  and having a unique singularity at the origin.

## Definition 1.3 (Formal vector fields).

A formal vector field  $\widehat{X} \in \widehat{\mathcal{X}}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  is a derivation of the ring of formal series. In the local coordinate (x, y), it can be written as

$$\widehat{X} = \widehat{a}_1(x, y)\partial_x + \widehat{a}_2(x, y)\partial_y$$

where  $\hat{a}_i \in \widehat{m}_2$ , for any i = 1, 2.

**Remark 1.4.** It is well-known that if the linear part of a formal vector field  $\widehat{X}$  is nilpotent, then its formal flow given by

$$\exp(t\widehat{X})(x,y) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^j}{j!} \widehat{X}^j(x,y)$$

converges in the formal setting and defines a formal diffeomorphism of  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ .

Next, for any  $k \ge 1$ , let us denote by  $\widehat{\mathcal{X}}_k(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  the set of formal vector fields  $\widehat{X}$  defined as  $\widehat{X} = \widehat{a}_1(x, y)\partial_x + \widehat{a}_2(x, y)\partial_y$  where  $\widehat{a}_i \in \widehat{m}_2^k$ .

Thanks to Cerveau-Moussu we have the following result. For more details the reader can see [3].

**Proposition 1.5.** The flow of a nilpotent formal vector field  $\widehat{X} \in \widehat{\mathfrak{X}}_{k>1}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  is polynomial in variable t, i.e.  $\exp(t\widehat{X})(x, y) \in (\mathbb{C}[t][[x, y]])^2$ .

In particular, the time one-map of the formal flow verifies the following formula which is called the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula. **Lemma 1.6** (Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula). Let  $\widehat{X}$  and  $\widehat{Y}$  be two nilpotent formal vector fields in  $\widehat{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . Then, there exists a nilpotent formal vector field  $\widehat{Z} \in \widehat{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  such that:

$$\exp(\widehat{X}) \circ \exp(\widehat{Y}) = \exp(\widehat{Z}),$$

Moreover, we have:

$$\widehat{Z} = \widehat{X} + \widehat{Y} + \frac{1}{2}[\widehat{X}, \widehat{Y}] + \frac{1}{12}[\widehat{X}, [\widehat{X}, \widehat{Y}]] + \cdots$$

In this work, we also consider special formal vector fields which are called a logarithmic vector fields introduced by K. Saito [for more details, see [12]]. Let us consider T a reduced analytic curve of  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  and for any point  $p \in T$ , let  $\mathcal{O}_p$  be is the germ of holomorphic functions at p.

**Definition 1.7.** A germ of holomorphic vector field X at p is logarithmic with respect the divisor T, if for any reduced equation  $h_p$  of T in a neighborhood of p, we have the following:

$$X.h_p = f_p h_p, \quad where \quad f_p \in \mathcal{O}_p.$$

We denote by  $Der(-\log T)_p$ , the set of germs at p of logarithmic vector fields with respect T. Furthermore, if a vector field is logarithmic at any point of T, we shall say that the vector field is logarithmic along the divisor T.

Thanks to K. Saito, we have:

**Proposition 1.8.** Let  $(v_1, v_2)$  be two germs of vector fields in  $Der(-\log T)_p$ . If there exists an invertible function  $u \in \mathcal{O}_p$  such that the function determinant  $det(v_1, v_2)$  verifies

$$\det(v_1, v_2) = u h_p,$$

then the vector fields  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  form a basis of the  $\mathcal{O}_p$ -module  $Der(-\log T)_p$ .

**Remark 1.9.** Let us recall that, in [12], K. Saito stated that the above Proposition is also true in the formal setting.

## 1.2. The notion of equivalence of germs of foliations.

**Definition 1.10.** Let  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  be two germs of foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . Assume that the foliation  $\mathcal{F}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{G}$ ) is represented by the one-form  $\omega$  (resp.  $\omega'$ ).

(1) The one-forms  $\omega$  and  $\omega'$  define the same foliation if and only if we have:

$$\omega \wedge \omega' = 0$$

(2)  $\mathcal{F}$  is analytically conjugated to  $\mathcal{G}$  (or  $\mathcal{F} \sim \mathcal{G}$ ) if and only if there exists a germ of analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi \colon (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  such that

$$\Phi^*\omega'\wedge\omega=0.$$

In formal sense, we have:

**Definition 1.11.** The germs of foliations  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  are formally equivalent if there exists a germ of formal diffeomorphism  $\widehat{\Phi} : (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  such that  $\widehat{\Phi}^* \mathcal{G} = \mathcal{F}$ , i.e

$$\widehat{\Phi}^*\omega' \wedge \omega = 0$$

in formal one-forms.

In general, it is not accurate to obtain an analytic conjugation of foliations from a formal one, but sometimes, we can perform the formal equivalence of the foliations by using the notion of transversely formal conjugation.

#### A. A. DIAW

**Definition 1.12 (Transversely formal series.).** Let  $V \subset \mathbb{C}$  be an open set (it can contain 0 or not) and  $C := V \times \{0\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  its embedding into the horizontal axis. A formal power series  $\sum_{n \ge 1} a_n(x)y^n$  is transversely formal along C, if all the functions  $x \mapsto a_n(x)$ 

are analytic on C. Note that the power series can be divergent along the y-direction. We denote by  $\mathcal{O}(C)[[y]]$  the group of formal power series which are transversely formal along C.

**Remark 1.13.** We shall say that a vector field is a transversely formal vector field on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, C)$  if it can be written as

$$\widehat{X} = \widehat{A}(x, y)\partial_x + \widehat{B}(x, y)\partial_y,$$

where the functions  $\widehat{A}$  and  $\widehat{B}$  are transversely formal along C. Likewise, a formal diffeomorphism  $\widehat{\Phi}$  is transversely formal along C, if it can be expressed in the form

$$\widehat{\Phi}(x,y) = (x + y\widehat{f}(x,y), y\widehat{g}(x,y))$$

where  $\widehat{f}, \widehat{g} \in \mathcal{O}(C)[[y]]$  and g(x, 0) does not vanish along C. We denote by  $\text{Diff}(C \times (\mathbb{C}, 0))$  the group of transversely formal diffeomorphisms.

1.3. The invariant to understand if foliations are equivalent. If two singular foliations are equivalent, the most important invariants are the separatrices, the Camacho-Sad indices and the holonomies.

Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a germ foliation defined on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . Let us consider  $(U, \omega)$  a representative of  $\mathcal{F}$  where U is an open neighborhood of  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$  and  $\omega$  is a holomorphic one-form defined by

$$\omega = A(x, y)dx + B(x, y)dy$$

such that A(0,0) = B(0,0) = 0 and A(x,0) = 0. Thus, it is clear that the curve  $\{y = 0\}$  is an invariant curve and we shall call it the horizontal separatrix of  $\mathcal{F}$ . In general, we have the following definition:

**Definition 1.14.** A separatrix of  $\mathcal{F}$  is a germ of an analytic curve at 0, invariant by the foliation.

**Remark 1.15.** Note that the number of separatrices of a foliation is invariant under the action of the analytic diffeomorphism on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ .

Now, if we consider  $X = B(x, y)\partial_x - A(x, y)\partial_y$ , the dual of the one-form  $\omega$ , then the eigenvalues  $\mu_1$ ,  $\mu_2$  of the linear part DX(0) of X at  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$  are well defined. If the eigenvalue  $\mu_2$  is not zero, then the quotient  $\lambda = \frac{\mu_1}{\mu_2}$  is called the Camacho-Sad index of  $\mathcal{F}$  with respect to the horizontal separatrix. This quotient  $\lambda$  is unchanged by multiplication of X by a non-vanishing holomorphic function. Moreover, one can see that it depends only on the germ of the foliation.

More precisely, if a foliation admits a smooth separatrix, then the Camacho-Sad index is defined as follows:

**Definition 1.16.** Let C be a smooth separatrix of  $\mathcal{F}$ . Assume that local coordinates are chosen such that  $C := \{y = 0\}$ . The Camacho-Sad index of  $\mathcal{F}$  with respect to C is defined as:

$$CS(\mathcal{F}, C, 0) = -Res_{x=0} \frac{\partial}{\partial_y} \left(\frac{A}{B}\right) (x, 0),$$

where  $Res_{x=0}$  is the residue at  $0 \in \mathbb{C}$ .

**Remark 1.17.** It is important to remark that the Camacho-Sad index is invariant by any change of coordinates preserving the horizontal separatrix: we shall say that it is an analytic invariant of the foliation.

Let us now discuss of the concept of holonomy which is one of the most important analytic invariant of the foliation.

Let  $f: (\mathbb{C}^2, p_0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$  be a local submersion defined on an open set  $U_{p_0}$  at  $p_0$ , such that  $\omega \wedge df \equiv 0$ . Then, f is a minimal first integral of  $\mathcal{F}$  at  $p_0$ : any other first integral of  $\mathcal{F}$  on  $U_{p_0}$  is written in the form  $\varphi \circ f$ , where  $\varphi$  is a function in one variable such that  $\varphi(0) = 0$ . Furthermore, f can be extended analytically along any path in the horizontal separatrix C. Hence, we have:

**Definition 1.18.** The holonomy of the foliation along the loop  $\gamma$ ,  $(\gamma(0) = \gamma(1) = p_0)$  defined inside  $C \setminus \{0\}$ , is the unique germ of diffeomorphism  $h^0_{\gamma}: (\mathbb{C}, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$  such that the germ of analytic continuation of f along the loop  $\gamma$  is given by

$$f^{\gamma} = h^0_{\gamma} \circ f.$$

**Remark 1.19.** Note that the holonomy depends only on the homotopy class of the loop. In addition, if  $g: (\mathbb{C}^2, p_0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$  is an another minimal first integral at the point  $p_0$ , then there exists a diffeomorphism  $\varphi \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}, 0)$  such that  $g = \varphi \circ f$  and such that the germ of analytic continuation of g along the loop  $\gamma$  is given by

$$g^{\gamma} = \left(\varphi \circ h^{0}_{\gamma} \circ \varphi^{-1}\right) \circ g.$$

Hence, the germ of holonomy  $h^0_{\gamma} \colon (\mathbb{C}, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}, 0)$  of the foliation  $\mathcal{F}$  along the loop  $\gamma$ 

is well-defined modulo conjugation by an element of  $\text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}, 0)$ . Finally, if we denote by  $\text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}, 0)/\sim$  the group of germs of diffeomorphisms modulo conjugation, we have the following representation associated to the foliation.

$$\begin{cases} \pi_1(C, p_0) \to \operatorname{Diff}(\mathbb{C}, 0)/\sim \\ \gamma \to h_{\gamma}^0 \end{cases}$$

The image of this representation is called the holonomy group of the horizontal separatrix C. We denote it by  $h_{\mathcal{F}}$ .

By definition, the holonomy group of a germ of foliation is well-defined and it is an analytic invariant in the sense that if two germs of foliations at 0 are conjugated by a germ of diffeomorphism which preserves the curve C, then their holomomies groups related to C are conjugated.

These invariants are not always complete, i.e. do not classify the foliation, in fact, it depends on the complexity of the singularity. However, there exists a kind of singularities for which the classification by means these invariants of foliations is well-understood.

**Definition 1.20.** Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a foliation on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . The singularity 0 is said to be reduced in Seidenberg sense if for every one-form  $\omega$  with an isolated singularity at 0 defining  $\mathcal{F}$ , one of the following case necessarily occurs:

• Non-degenerate singularity: the linear part of the dual vector field of  $\omega$  has two eigenvalues different from zero and the ratio between these eigenvalues is not a positive rational number. Thus, thanks to Briot-Bouquet, up to analytic change of coordinates, the foliation is defined by

$$\omega = x[1 + f(x, y)]dy - y[\lambda + g(x, y)]dx$$

with  $(\lambda \neq 0)$ ,  $\lambda \notin \mathbb{Q}^+$  and the functions f, g vanish at the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ . The separatrices are the axes of coordinates  $\{x = 0\}$  and  $\{y = 0\}$  and moreover, in this case,  $\lambda$  is the camacho-Sad index at 0 along the horizontal separatrix  $\{y = 0\}$ .

When  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^* \setminus \mathbb{R}_-$ , then we shall say that the singularity is of Poincaré type, if  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^*_-$ , then the singularity is of Siegel type.

• Saddle-Node singularity: the linear part of the dual vector field of  $\omega$  has exactly one eigenvalue different from zero. Up to holomorphic change of coordinates, the foliation is defined by

$$\omega = [x(1 + \mu y^k) + y\mathbf{R}(x, y)]dy - y^{k+1}dx$$

with  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\mathbb{R}(0,0) = 0$  and such that the function  $\mathbb{R}(0,y)$  has order up to k at 0. The curve  $\{y = 0\}$  is invariant by the foliation and it is called the strong separatrix. In addition, there also exists a formal separatrix which may or may not correspond to an analytic separatrix, i.e. it can be divergent.

These two kind of singularities are considered as the most simple singularities of a foliation: they are said reduced and the class of reduced singular points is stable under blow-up. In dimension 2, Seidenberg states that every isolated singularity of a foliation becomes reduced after a finite number of blow-ups. Details and proofs can be found in [13].

In the sequel, we only consider the germs of reduced foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . Let us recall the formal normal form of reduced foliations due to Briot-Bouquet, Poincaré-Dulac. Mainly, the normal forms are determined by the Camacho-Sad index. If there is no resonnance between the eigenvalues, then the normal form is linear. However, the linearizing diffeomorphism can be formal. Siegel and Brjuno showed that if the eigenvalues verify a certain diophantian condition, then the linearizing diffemorphism is analytic. For more details about the analytic and formal normalization, we refer the reader to [1].

The following proposition is the most important result about normal forms, furthermore, in [4], we showed that each normalizing diffeomorphism can be constructed as a transversely formal diffeomorphism along the horizontal separatrix. We have:

**Proposition 1.21.** Let  $\mathcal{F} = \langle xdy - \lambda ydx + h.o.t \rangle$  be of reduced foliation on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ .

(1) If  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{-} \setminus \mathbb{Q}_{-}$ , then there exists  $\widehat{\Phi} \in \text{Diff}(C \times \widehat{(\mathbb{C}, 0)})$  such that:

 $\widehat{\Phi}^* \mathcal{F} = < x dy - \lambda y dx > .$ 

(2)  $\lambda = -\frac{p}{q} \in \mathbb{Q}^*_-$ , then there exists  $\widehat{\Phi} \in \text{Diff}(C \times \widehat{(\mathbb{C}, 0)})$  such that either:

 $\widehat{\Phi}^* \mathcal{F} = \langle qxdy + pydx \rangle$ 

or

 $\widehat{\Phi}^* \mathcal{F} = < q(1 + \alpha u^k) x dy + p(1 + (\alpha - 1)u^k) y dx >,$ 

where  $u = x^p y^q$ . The integer k > 0 and the complex number  $\alpha$  are formal invariants.

(3) If  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{\mathbb{R}_{-} \cup \mathbb{Q}_{+}\}$ , then there exists an analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^{2}, 0)$  such that

$$\Phi^* \mathcal{F} = < x dy - \lambda y dx > 1$$

(4) If  $\lambda = 0$ , then there exists  $\widehat{\Phi} \in \text{Diff}(C \times (\widehat{\mathbb{C}, 0}))$  such that

$$\widehat{\Phi}^* \mathcal{F} = \langle y^{k+1} dx - y(1 + \mu x^k) dx \rangle,$$

where  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , and the function f is holomorphic. Moreover, k and  $\mu$  are formal invariants.

Thanks to the above Proposition, reduced foliations are transversely formally classified by formal invariants which are  $\lambda$ ,  $\alpha$ ,  $\mu$  and k. 1.4. Analytic classification of reduced foliations. Now, we are going to recall the analytic classification of the reduced foliations around the neighborhood of the origin  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ . Thanks to J.F. Mattei, R. Moussu and Martinet-Ramis (see [10] and [9] for more details), a foliation in the Siegel domain (resp. a foliation in the saddle-node domain) is entirely determined by their holonomies. More precisely, we have:

### Theorem 1.22. Let

 $\mathcal{F}_i = \langle x[1 + f_i(x, y)]dy - y[\lambda + g_i(x, y)]dx \rangle,$ 

(i = 1, 2) be two germs of non-degenerate foliations at  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ , such that  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^-$ . Denote by  $h_1$  (resp.  $h_2$ ) the holomony map of the foliation  $\mathcal{F}_1$  (resp.  $\mathcal{F}_2$ ) with respect to the horizontal separatrix  $\{y = 0\}$ . Then, the holonomy maps are analytically conjugated by a germ in Diff( $\mathbb{C}, 0$ ) if and only if the foliations  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  are conjugated by a germ of an analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi: (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  preserving the horizontal separatrix.

Remark 1.23. Likewise, if we consider

$$\mathcal{F}_i = \left\langle [x(1+\mu_i y^{k_i}) + y \mathbf{R}_i(x,y)] dy - y^{k_i+1} dx \right\rangle,$$

(i = 1, 2) two germs of saddles nodes at  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ . Then the same result follows.

In short, these previous result state that a convergent separatrix and the holonomy related to it are complete invariants for reduced singularities.

The case of a foliation of Poincaré type is more accurate. Indeed, the only complete invariant is the Camacho-Sad index, due to the fact that such foliations are always analytically linearizable.

From now on, we want to generalize the classification of foliations to that of pairs of foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . Using the same spirit, we want to classify the pairs of foliations by developing a complete set of invariants.

**Definition 1.24.** Let  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  be a germ of a pair of singular foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . Let us consider the one-forms  $\omega_i$  (i = 1, 2) which are representatives of the germs  $\mathcal{F}_i$  on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . We shall denote it by  $\mathcal{F}_i := \langle \omega_i \rangle$ . If we assume that  $\omega_1 \wedge \omega_2 = f(x, y)dx \wedge dy$ , then the tangency divisor of the pair  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  is a germ at the origin of a divisor defined as

$$Tang(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2) := \{div(f)\}.$$

**Remark 1.25.** Note that up to a multiplicative non-zero coefficient, the tangency divisor does not depend on the chosen coordinates. In the sequel, we denote the tangency divisor by T.

Motivated by the result in [4], we are interested in the case where the foliations  $\mathcal{F}_i$ , (i = 1, 2) are reduced with common separatrices  $\{xy = 0\}$  and such that  $T = div(x^{k_1}y^{k_2})$ . In this case,  $k_1$  (resp  $k_2$ ) is the order of contact of the pair  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  along the separatrix  $\{x = 0\}$  (resp.  $\{y = 0\}$ ). In particular, if  $k_1 = k_2 = 1$ , then we shall say that the tangency is simple.

**Definition 1.26.** Let  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  be two germs of pairs of foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ and having the same tangency divisor T. We shall say that the pair  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  is analytically conjugated to the  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  if there exists a germ of an analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi \in$ Diff $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  such that

 $\Phi^* \mathcal{G}_i = \mathcal{F}_i, \quad \forall i = 1, 2 \text{ and } \Phi_{|T} = Id.$ 

More precisely, if  $\mathcal{F}_i := \langle \omega_i \rangle$  and  $\mathcal{G}_i := \langle \alpha_i \rangle$ , i = 1, 2, then there exists a germ of analytic diffeomorphism defined as

$$\Phi(x,y) = (x + xy\Phi_1(x,y), y + xy\Phi_2(x,y))$$

and such that

$$\Phi^* \alpha_i \wedge \omega_i = 0, \ \forall i = 1, 2.$$

**Remark 1.27.** In particular, if we have  $\Phi^* \mathcal{F}_i = \mathcal{F}_i$  and  $\Phi_{|T} = Id$ , we shall say that the  $\Phi$  preserves (or  $\Phi$  is a symmetry of) the pair of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$ . We denote by  $\operatorname{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, T, 0)$  (resp.  $\widehat{\operatorname{Diff}}(\mathbb{C}^2, T, 0)$ ) the germs of analytic (resp. formal) diffeomorphisms which are tangent to identity along T.

#### 2. Local analytic classification of pairs of foliations: Path method

Let us first consider the problem of the conjugation of the pairs of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$ and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  when  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{G}_1$  as well as  $\mathcal{F}_2$  and  $\mathcal{G}_2$  are independently conjugated.

**Theorem 2.1.** Let  $(\mathfrak{F}_1, \mathfrak{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathfrak{G}_1, \mathfrak{G}_2)$  be the germs of pairs of foliations defined on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  by:

$$\mathfrak{F}_i = \langle xdy - \lambda_i y(1 + f_i(x, y))dx \rangle, \quad \mathfrak{G}_i < xdy - \lambda_i y(1 + g_i(x, y))dx \rangle$$

i = 1, 2, with  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ . Note that,  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2 \iff T := \{xy = 0\}$ .

Assume that  $\mathfrak{F}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{G}_1$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{F}_2$  and  $\mathfrak{G}_2$ ) are conjugated by a germ of an analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi_1: (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  (resp.  $\Phi_2: (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ ) tangent to identity along the tangency divisor  $T := \{xy = 0\}$ . Then, there exists a germ of an analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi: (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, T, 0)$  which conjugates  $(\mathfrak{F}_1, \mathfrak{F}_2)$  to  $(\mathfrak{G}_1, \mathfrak{G}_2)$ , i.e.  $\Phi^*\mathfrak{G}_1 = \mathfrak{F}_1$  and  $\Phi^*\mathfrak{G}_2 = \mathfrak{F}_2$ .

*Proof.* Let us assume that the germs of foliations  $\mathcal{F}_i$  and  $\mathcal{G}_i$ , i = 1, 2, are defined by the germs of one-forms  $\omega_i = xdy - \lambda_i y(1 + f_i(x, y))dx$  and  $\alpha_i = xdy - \lambda_i y(1 + g_i(x, y))dx$  respectively.

By assumption, there exist germs of invertible functions F, G such that  $\Phi_1^* \alpha_1 = F \omega_1$ and  $\Phi_2^* \alpha_2 = G \omega_2$ . Thus, without loss of generality, by replacing the generators  $\omega_1$  and  $\omega_2$ by  $F \omega_1$  and  $G \omega_2$  respectively, we can assume that  $\Phi_1^* \alpha_1 = \omega_1$  and  $\Phi_2^* \alpha_2 = \omega_2$ .

In the same way, even if we conjugate the germs of one-forms  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  by  $\Phi_2^{-1}$ , we can suppose that  $\phi_2 = Id$  and so  $\alpha_2 = \omega_2 = \alpha$ . Therefore, to conjugate the pairs  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  simultaneously is amount to conjugate the pairs  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{G})$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G})$ simultaneously, where  $\mathcal{G} = \langle \alpha \rangle$ . In addition, we can assume that

$$\Phi_1(x,y) = (x, y(1 + u(x,y))), \quad u(0,0) = 0.$$

Now, let us consider the one parameter family of the germs of analytic diffeomorphisms  $(\Phi_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$  defined by

$$\Phi_t(x, y) = (x, y (1 + tu(x, y))),$$

the projection map

 $\pi \colon \mathbb{C}^2 \times [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}^2, \quad \pi(x,y,t) = (x,y),$ 

and the map  $\Phi \colon (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \times [0, 1] \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  defined as

$$\Phi(x, y, t) = \Phi_t(x, y) = (x, y (1 + tu(x, y))).$$

If we can pull back the foliation  $\mathcal{G}_1$  defined by  $\alpha_1$  on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  to a foliation of codimension 1 on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \times [0, 1]$  by  $\Phi$ , then this previous is defined as:

$$\Omega := \Phi^* \alpha_1 = A(x, y, t) dx + B(x, y, t) dy + C(x, y, t) dt$$

where:

 $\begin{array}{rcl} A(x,y,t) &=& y\left(xt\partial_x u(x,y) - \lambda_1(1 + tu(x,y))(1 + g_1 \circ \Phi_t(x,y,t))\right) \\ B(x,y,t) &=& x\left(1 + t(u(x,y) + y\partial_y u(x,y))\right) \\ C(x,y,t) &=& xyu(x,y) \end{array}$ 

Furthermore, we have:

$$\Omega_{|\mathbb{C}^2 \times \{0\}} = \alpha_1$$
 and  $\Omega_{|\mathbb{C}^2 \times \{1\}} = \omega_1$ .

Note that the notation  $\Omega_{|\mathbb{C}^2 \times \{0\}} = \alpha_1$  (resp.  $\Omega_{|\mathbb{C}^2 \times \{1\}} = \omega_1$ ) means the intersections of the leaves of the codimension one foliation defined by  $\Omega$  with the plane  $\mathbb{C}^2 \times \{0\}$  (resp.  $\mathbb{C}^2 \times \{1\}$ ) is given by the leaves of the one dimensional foliation defined by the one-form  $\alpha_1$  (resp.  $\omega_1$ ).

Next, we want to find out an analytic diffeomorphism on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \times [0, 1]$ , of the form  $h(x, y, t) = (h_1(x, y, t), h_2(x, y, t), t)$  such that:

- the foliation defined by  $\Omega$  is conjugated by h to the foliation defined by the oneform  $\pi^* \alpha_1$ ;
- the foliation defined by  $\pi^* \alpha$  is invariant by h.

It amounts to construct a vector field

$$Z = U(x, y, t)\partial_x + V(x, y, t)\partial_y + \partial_t \quad \text{such that} \quad \alpha(Z) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \Omega(Z) = 0$$

Therefore, we have to solve the following system of equations:

$$\begin{cases} AU + BV = -xyu(x, y) \\ -\lambda_2 y(1+g_2)U + xV = 0 \end{cases}$$

As  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ , the discriminant  $\Delta(x, y) = xA(x, y) + \lambda_2 yB(x, y)(1 + g_2(x, y))$  of the previous system can be seen as

$$\Delta(x,y) = xy\Delta'(x,y), \text{ with } \Delta'(0,0) \neq 0.$$

Hence, the solutions of the system are

$$U(x, y, t) = -\frac{xu(x, y)}{\Delta'(x, y)} \quad and \quad V(x, y, t) = -\frac{\lambda_2 yu(x, y)(1 + g_2(x, y))}{\Delta'(x, y)}$$

which are holomorphic on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \times [0, 1]$ .

Finally, by integrating the holomorphic vector field Z, we obtain a germ of an analytic diffeomorphism h = h(x, y, 1) which verifies:

$$h^*\omega_1 = \alpha_1$$
 and  $h^*\alpha = \alpha$ .

One direct consequence of the previous theorem is the following:

**Corollary 2.2.** Any pair of foliations of Poincaré type with simple tangency is simultaneously linearizable.

*Proof.* Let

$$\mathcal{F}_1 = \langle xdy - \lambda_1 y(1 + f_1(x, y))dx \rangle$$
, and  $\mathcal{F}_2 = \langle xdy - \lambda_2 y(1 + f_2(x, y))dx \rangle$ ,  
with  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{\mathbb{R}_- \cup \mathbb{Q}_+\}$ . Thanks to the Proposition 1.21 and the Theorem 2.1,  
there exists  $\Phi \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, T, 0)$  such that:

$$\Phi^* \mathcal{F}_1 = \langle xdy - \lambda_1 ydx \rangle$$
 and  $\Phi^* \mathcal{F}_2 = \langle xdy - \lambda_2 ydx \rangle$ .

Another result that follows to the previous is the following generalization of the theorem of Mattei-Moussu for the pairs of foliations.

11

Theorem 2.3. Let

$$\mathcal{F}_i = \langle xdy - \lambda_i y [1 + f_i(x, y)] dx \rangle$$

and

$$\mathcal{G}_i = \langle xdy - \lambda_i y [1 + g_i(x, y)] dx \rangle,$$

(i = 1, 2), be two germs of pairs of foliations such that  $\lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}^*_-$  and  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ . Denote by  $h_{\mathcal{F}_i}$  (resp.  $h_{\mathcal{G}_i}$ ) the holomony map of the foliation  $\mathcal{F}_i$  (resp.  $\mathcal{G}_i$ ) with respect to the horizontal separatrix  $\{y = 0\}$ . Then, the pair of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  is conjugated to the pair of foliations  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  by an element of  $\text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, T, 0)$  (with  $T = \{xy = 0\}$ ) if and only if there exists analytic diffeomorphisms  $\varphi_i \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}, 0)$  such that for any i = 1, 2 we have:

$$h_{\mathfrak{S}_1} = \varphi_1 \circ h_{\mathfrak{F}_1} \circ \varphi_1^{-1}$$
 and  $h_{\mathfrak{S}_2} = \varphi_2 \circ h_{\mathfrak{F}_2} \circ \varphi_2^{-1}$ .

The proof of this previous theorem follows from Theorem 2.1 combined with Mattei-Moussu theorem. Finally, pairs of non-degenerate foliations with simple tangency have only the Camacho-Sad indices and the corresponding holonomies with respect to the horizontal separatrix as complete invariants.

To find the complete invariants of the pairs of foliations in the case where the tangency divisor is no longer reduced (for example if  $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2$ ), is more complicated. However, as in the simple tangency case, if the conjugating diffeomorphisms  $\Phi_i$  are sufficiently tangent to the identity along T, we have the same result:

**Theorem 2.4.** Let  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  be two germs of pairs of foliations having the tangency divisor  $T = T_1 \cup T_2$ . Assume that the order of contact of the pairs along the common separatrix  $T_i$  is equal to  $k_i$ , (i = 1, 2). If there exists germs of analytic diffeomorphisms tangent to the identity up to order  $k_1$  (resp. up to order  $k_2$ ) along  $T_1$  (resp.  $T_2$ ),  $\Phi_i: (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0), i = 1, 2$  and such that  $\Phi_i^* \mathcal{G}_i = \mathcal{F}_i$ , then the pairs  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  are conjugated by a germ of an analytic diffeomorphism which is tangent to the identity along T.

*Proof.* The proof is the same as in the case of simple tangency (i.e. when Camacho-Sad indices of the foliations were different.)

Without loss of generality, we can set that  $\mathcal{F}_2 = \mathcal{G}_2$  and so  $\Phi_2 = id$ . Let us consider  $\omega_1 = A_1(x, y)dx + B_1(x, y)dy$ ,  $\alpha_1 = a_1(x, y)dx + b_1(x, y)dy$  and  $\alpha = M(x, y)dx + N(x, y)dy$ , the germs of one-forms at  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$  which define respectively the foliations  $\mathcal{F}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{G}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2 = \mathcal{G}_2 = \mathcal{G}$ . Assume that

$$\Phi_1(x,y) = \left(x + x^{k_1 + 1}y^{k_2 + 1}\phi(x,y), y + x^{k_1 + 1}y^{k_2 + 1}\psi(x,y)\right), \quad \psi(0,0) \neq 0, \quad \phi(0,0) \neq 0.$$

Now, we can pull back the foliation  $\mathcal{G}_1 = \langle \alpha_1 \rangle$  to a foliation of codimension 1 on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \times [0, 1]$  by the germ of map

$$\widetilde{\Phi}(x,y,t) = \left(x + t\left(x^{k_1+1}y^{k_2+1}\phi(x,y)\right), y + t\left(x^{k_1+1}y^{k_2+1}\psi(x,y)\right)\right).$$

Thus, we have:

$$\widetilde{\Omega} = \widetilde{\Phi}^* \alpha_1 = \widetilde{a}_1(x, y, t) dx + \widetilde{b}_1(x, y, t) dy + \widetilde{c}_1(x, y, t) dt$$

where

$$\widetilde{a}_1(x,y,t) = a_1(\widetilde{\Phi}) + t \left[ a_1(\widetilde{\Phi}) \partial_x(x^{k_1+1}y^{k_2+1}\phi(x,y)) + b_1(\widetilde{\Phi}) \partial_x(x^{k_1+1}y^{k_2+1}\psi(x,y)) \right]$$

$$\widetilde{b}_1(x, y, t) = b_1(\widetilde{\Phi}) + t \left[ a_1(\widetilde{\Phi}) \partial_y(x^{k_1 + 1} y^{k_2 + 1} \phi(x, y)) + b_1(\widetilde{\Phi}) \partial_y(x^{k_1 + 1} y^{k_2 + 1} \psi(x, y)) \right]$$

and

$$\widetilde{c}_1(x, y, t) = a_1(\widetilde{\Phi}) x^{k_1 + 1} y^{k_2 + 1} \phi(x, y) + b_1(\widetilde{\Phi}) x^{k_1 + 1} y^{k_2 + 1} \psi(x, y)$$

Moreover,  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{|\mathbb{C}^2 \times \{0\}} = \alpha_1$  and  $\widetilde{\Omega}_{|\mathbb{C}^2 \times \{1\}} = \omega_1$ . Using the path method, the theorem follow:

Using the path method, the theorem follows if there exists a holomorphic vector field

 $Z = U(x, y, t)\partial_x + V(x, y, t)\partial_y + \partial_t \quad \text{such that} \quad \alpha(Z) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\Omega}(Z) = 0.$ 

Therefore, we have to solve the following system of equations:

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{a}_1 U + \widetilde{b}_1 V + \widetilde{c}_1 &= 0\\ MU + NV &= 0 \end{cases}$$

As the order  $ord_{T_i}(\alpha_1 \wedge \alpha) = k_i$ , i = 1, 2, the function  $a_1N - b_1M = x^{k_1}y^{k_2}R(x, y)$ where  $R(0, 0) \neq 0$ . Thus, we obtain that the determinant can be defined as

$$\widetilde{\Delta} = \widetilde{a}_1 N - \widetilde{b}_1 M = x^{k_1} y^{k_2} \widetilde{\Delta}'(x, y), \quad \text{with} \quad \widetilde{\Delta}'(0, 0) \neq 0.$$

Hence, if we set that  $\widetilde{c}_1(x,y) = x^{k_1+1}y^{k_2+1} \widetilde{c}'_1(x,y)$ , we obtain that:

$$U = -xy \frac{N\widetilde{c}'_1}{\widetilde{\Delta}'}$$
 and  $V = xy \frac{M\widetilde{c}'_1}{\widetilde{\Delta}'}$ 

which are the holomorphic solutions of the system. And the theorem follows.

A direct inspection yields this following result:

## Corollary 2.5. Let

$$\mathcal{F}_i = \langle xdy + y(\lambda + f_i(x, y))dx \rangle, \ i = 1, 2,$$

and

$$\mathcal{G} = < x dy + \lambda y dx >, \ \lambda = \frac{p}{q}, \quad (p,q) \in \mathbb{N}^* \times \mathbb{N}^*,$$

be germs of foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  such that for any i = 1, 2,  $Tang(\mathfrak{F}_i, \mathfrak{G}) = div(x^p y^q)$ . Assume that there exist germs of analytic diffeomorphisms  $\Phi_i(x, y) = (x, y + x^{p+1}y^{q+1}u_i(x, y))$ , i = 1, 2, and  $u_i(0, 0) \neq 0$ , such that  $\Phi_1^* \mathfrak{F}_2 = \mathfrak{F}_1$  and  $\Phi_2^* \mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{G}$ . Then, there exists a germ of an analytic diffeomorphism

$$\Phi(x,y) = (x, y(1+x^p y^q u(x,y))) \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \quad such \ that \quad \Phi^* \mathcal{F}_2 = \mathcal{F}_1 \quad and \quad \Phi^* \mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}.$$

*Proof.* The proof of this corollary is based on the previous Theorem 2.4. Indeed, if  $\lambda = \frac{p}{q} \in \mathbb{Q}^*_+$ , then, any analytic diffeomorphism which preserves the foliation generated by  $xdy + \lambda ydx$  and which preserves each separatrix is of the form

$$\Phi(x,y) = (x,y(1+x^p y^q U(x,y)))$$
  
where  $U(x,y) = a_{pq} + \sum_{k>1} a_k x^{kp} y^{kq}$ , with  $a_{pq} \in \mathbb{C}$ .

#### 3. TRANSVERSELY FORMAL CLASSIFICATION OF PAIRS OF FOLIATIONS

From now on, we will establish new techniques that make it possible to classify the pairs of foliations according to their associated invariants. This classification is rather in the sense of generalizing the Mattei-Moussu theorem for the pairs of foliations. Furthermore, this method has been used in [8].

First of all, we want to find the formal normal form of pair of foliations at the neighborhood of  $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ . Unless otherwise mentioned, we rule out the saddle-node case.

**Lemma 3.1.** (Decomposition of a formal logarithmic vector field.) Let  $\widehat{X} = x^{k_1}\widehat{f}\partial_x + y^{k_2}\widehat{g}\partial_y$ , with  $k_i > 0, i = 1, 2$ , be a formal logarithmic vector field along  $T := \{xy = 0\}$ . Assume that  $\widehat{X}$  is transversely formal along the divisor  $\{y = 0\}$ , then there exists  $\widehat{F}$  and  $\widehat{G}$ , transversely formal power series along  $\{y = 0\}$  such that:

$$\exp(\widehat{X}) = \exp(\widehat{F}v_1) \circ \exp(\widehat{G}v_2),$$

where  $v_1 = x\partial_x + \lambda_1 y(1 + f_1(x, y))\partial_y$ ,  $v_2 = x\partial_x + \lambda_2 y(1 + f_2(x, y))\partial_y$ , and  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ .

*Proof.* As  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ , both non-zero, the vector fields  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  form a basis of the formal logarithmic vector fields along T (see Proposition 1.8). Thus, there exists transversely formal power series F and G along the divisor  $\{y = 0\}$ , such that

$$\widehat{X} = Fv_1 + Gv_2.$$

Now, let  $F_i$  and  $G_i$  be the homogeneous components of degree *i* of the functions *F* and *G* respectively. Consider the sequence of transversely formal power series defined as:

$$U_n = \exp(-F_n v_1) \circ \dots \circ \exp(-F_1 v_1).$$

We claim that there exists a transversely formal series  $\widehat{F}$  such that the sequence  $(U_n)$  converges to  $\exp(-\widehat{F}v_1)$  in the sense of Krull topology.

First, using Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula, we can deduce that for any integer  $n \ge 1$ , there exists transversely formal power series  $\widehat{F(n)}$  along  $\{y = 0\}$ , such that:

$$\exp(-F_n v_1) \circ \dots \circ \exp(-F_1 v_1) = \exp\left(-\widehat{F(n)} v_1\right)$$

Next, thanks to Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula, we can see that for any k > 1, there exists  $n_0 = k$  such that for all  $n \ge n_0$ , we have

$$J^k(\tilde{F}(n)) = J^k(\tilde{F}(n+1)),$$

(where  $J^k$  is the jet of order k).

As a consequence, we can construct a transversely formal series  $\widehat{F}$  such that

for any 
$$k > 1$$
,  $J^k(\widehat{F}) = J^k(\widehat{F(k)})$ .

Lastly, it is well-known that modulus the terms of orders greater than k + 1, two homogeneous vector fields of degree greater than k + 1, necessarily commute, thus, we can find an integer  $N = N(k) \ge k$  such that for any n > N, we have:

$$J^{k}(U_{n}) = J^{k} \left( \exp(-F_{k}v_{1}) \circ \dots \circ \exp(-F_{1}v_{1}) \right)$$
$$= J^{k} \left( \exp\left(-\widehat{F(k)}v_{1}\right) \right)$$
$$= J^{k} \left( \exp\left(-\widehat{F}v_{1}\right) \right)$$

Hence, in the sense of Krull topology, we conclude that the sequence  $(U_n)$  converge to  $\exp(-\widehat{F}v_1)$ .

Likewise, using the same reasoning, we obtain that the sequence

$$V_n = \exp(-G_1 v_2) \circ \dots \circ \exp(-G_n v_2)$$

converges to  $\exp(-\widehat{G}v_2)$ , where  $\widehat{G}$  is a transversely formal power series along  $\{y=0\}$ .

From another side, due to the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula, we can see by recurrence the following property  $P_{n\geqslant 1}$  :

$$"U_n = \exp(-F_n v_1) \circ \dots \circ \exp(-F_1 v_1) \quad \text{and} \quad V_n = \exp(-G_1 v_2) \circ \dots \circ \exp(-G_n v_2)$$

verify

$$J^{n+1}\left(\exp(-F_nv_1)\circ\ldots\circ\exp(-F_1v_1)\circ\exp(\widehat{X})\circ\exp(-G_1v_2)\circ\ldots\circ\exp(-G_nv_2)\right)=Id"$$

Finally, if  $n \to +\infty$ , we obtain:

$$\exp(\widehat{X}) = \exp(\widehat{F}v_1) \circ \exp(\widehat{G}v_2),$$

and the lemma follows.

This previous Lemma can be reformulated in the sense of transversely formal diffeomorphisms along  $\{y = 0.\}$  We have:

Lemma 3.2. (Decomposition of a transversely formal diffeomorphism.)

Consider  $v_1 = x\partial_x + \lambda_1 y(1 + f_1(x, y))\partial_y$  and  $v_2 = x\partial_x + \lambda_2 y(1 + f_2(x, y))\partial_y$  two vector fields such that  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ .

Any transversely formal diffeomorphism  $\widehat{\phi}(x,y) = (x+yx\widehat{\phi}_1(x,y), y+xy\widehat{\phi}_2(x,y))$  along the divisor  $\{y=0\}$  can be decomposed in the form

$$\widehat{\phi} = \widehat{\phi}_1 \circ \widehat{\phi}_2$$

such that:

- for any i = 1, 2,  $\hat{\phi}_i$  is a transversely formal diffeomorphism along the divisor  $\{y = 0\};$
- if  $\mathfrak{F}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{F}_2$  are the foliations defined by the vector fields  $v_1$ ,  $v_2$ , respectively, then

$$\widehat{\phi}_1^* \mathfrak{F}_1 = \mathfrak{F}_1 \quad and \quad \widehat{\phi}_2^* \mathfrak{F}_2 = \mathfrak{F}_2$$

*Proof.* The proof of this Lemma relies heavily on the fact that the Camacho-Sad of the vector fields  $v_i$  are different (i.e. the tangency divisor of the pair of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  is simple). As,  $J^1_{(0,0)}\hat{\phi} = Id$ , where  $J^1_{(0,0)}$  is the jet of order 1 at the origin, there exists a transversely formal vector field  $\hat{X}$  along  $\{y = 0\}$  and logarithmic along the axes of coordinates such that:

$$\widehat{\phi} = \exp(\widehat{X}).$$

Moreover, by Lemma 3.1, we have:

$$\widehat{\phi} = \left(\exp\left(\widehat{F}_1 v_1\right)\right) \circ \left(\exp\left(\widehat{F}_2 v_2\right)\right),$$

where  $\widehat{F}^1 v_1$  and  $\widehat{F}^2 v_2$  are transversely formal power series. Finally, it suffices to set

$$\widehat{\phi}_1 = \exp\left(\widehat{F}_1 v_1\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \widehat{\phi}_2 = \exp\left(\widehat{F}_2 v_2\right).$$

From now on, we can establish the transversely formal conjugation of the pairs of foliations with simple tangency.

**Theorem 3.3** (Transversely formal conjugacy of pairs of foliations). Let  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  be two germs of pairs of foliations defined on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_i &:= \langle x \partial_x + \lambda_i y (1 + f_i(x, y)) \partial_y \rangle \,, \\ \mathcal{G}_i &:= \langle x \partial_x + \lambda_i y (1 + g_i(x, y)) \partial_y \rangle \,, \end{aligned}$$

 $i = 1, 2, and \lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2.$ 

15

Then there exists germs of transversely formal diffeomorphisms  $\widehat{\zeta}_i \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, \widehat{(T,0)})$ (with  $T := \{xy = 0\}$ ) such that

$$\begin{cases} \widehat{\zeta}_1^* \mathfrak{G}_1 = \mathfrak{F}_1 \\ \widehat{\zeta}_2^* \mathfrak{G}_2 = \mathfrak{F}_2 \end{cases}$$

if and only if there exists a transversely formal diffeomorphism  $\widehat{\zeta} \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}^2, (T, 0))$  which conjugates simultaneously the pairs of foliations:

$$\begin{cases} \widehat{\zeta}^* \mathfrak{G}_1 = \mathfrak{F}_1 \\ \widehat{\zeta}^* \mathfrak{G}_2 = \mathfrak{F}_2 \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* As the transversely formal diffeomorphism  $\widehat{\zeta}_1 \circ \widehat{\zeta}_2^{-1}$  is tangent to the identity along the tangency divisor  $T := \{xy = 0\}$ , by Lemma 3.2, we can find two transversely formal diffeomorphisms  $\widehat{g}_1$  and  $\widehat{g}_2$  along the divisor  $\{y = 0\}$  which preserve the foliations  $\mathcal{G}_1$  and  $\mathcal{G}_2$  and such that:

$$\widehat{\zeta}_1 \circ \widehat{\zeta}_2^{-1} = \widehat{g}_1 \circ \widehat{g}_2.$$

Therefore, if we set that  $\widehat{\zeta} = \widehat{g_1}^{-1} \circ \widehat{\zeta_1}$ , we obtain the transversely formal diffeomorphism along the divisor  $\{y = 0\}$  which conjugate the pairs.

**Remark 3.4.** In the same way, it can be seen that the convergent version of the Lemma 3.2 implies the main result (see Theorem A).

Thanks to the transversely formal classification of reduced foliations (see Proposition 1.21) and Theorem 3.3, we obtain the following Corollary which gives the transversely formal normal forms of pairs of foliations without a saddle-node singularity.

**Corollary 3.5.** (Transversely formal normal form) Let

$$\mathfrak{F}_i = \left\langle \omega_i = x dy - y \lambda_i (1 + f_i(x, y)] dx \right\rangle,$$

 $(i = 1, 2), \lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ , both non-zero, be a germ of pairs of foliations. Let us denote by  $\mathcal{F}_i^0$ , i = 1, 2, the foliation defined by the formal normal form of  $\omega_i$ . Then, the pair  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  is transversely formal conjugated to the pair of its normal forms  $(\mathcal{F}_1^0, \mathcal{F}_2^0)$ .

### Remark 3.6.

These previous results work in saddle-node case, when the central manifold, i.e. the separatrix tangent to the 0-eigendirection, is convergent (see [4]). It is also important to mention that if the tangency of the pairs of foliations is not simple, then we cannot use these previous techniques in order to find a normal form of the pair. This is really another work that deserves to be studied in another paper.

## 4. Analytic classification of pairs of singular foliations on $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$

Before giving an analytic classification of the germs of pairs of singular foliations, we need to better understand the classification of pairs of regular foliations along a common leaf. More precisely, the invariants that occur in this classification.

## 4.1. Local classification of the pair of regular foliations with common leaf.

Let us consider  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G})$  a pair of regular foliations in the neighborhood of a common leaf  $H := \{y = 0\} \setminus \{0\}$ . Assume that the order of tangency of the pair along H is equal to  $k \ge 1$ . Using the flow-box theorem, for any point  $(x_0, 0) \in H$ , we can find a local analytic diffeomorphism which preserves the common leaf H point-wise and conjugates the pair  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G})$  to the pair  $(< dy >, < dy + y^k B(x, 0) dx >)$ , where B(x, 0) is not identically zero. Moreover, we can prove that:

- if k = 1, then the one-form  $\omega = B(x, 0)dx$  can be extended to a global one-form on the common leaf H;
- if k > 1, then the one-form  $\omega$  is well-defined up to a constant term, however, the local coordinates  $\varphi(x, 0) = \int_0^x \omega$ , define a global affine structure on H.

Thus, the pair of foliation is related to a one-form  $\omega$  which measures the discrepancy at order k between the foliations  $\mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  where the foliation  $\mathcal{F}$  is straightened as the foliation defined by the one-form dy. More precisely, if we deal with a pair of foliation  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G})$  with simple tangence, we have the following key lemma due by F.Loray, F.Touzet and O.Thom (see [[7],page 18] or the reader can also see [5] for more details).

**Lemma 4.1.** Let us consider  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G})$  a pair of regular foliations in the neighborhood of a common leaf with  $H := \{y = 0\} \setminus \{0\}$ . Assume that the order of tangency of the pair along H is equal to 1 and let  $\omega$  be the discrepancy one-form of the pair.

Consider  $(F_0, G_0)$  be a pair of local minimal first integrals of the pair  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{G})$ , defined in the neighborhood of  $(x_0, 0) \in H$  such that on which  $H := \{F_0 = 0\} = \{G_0 = 0\}$ . Then, there exists a unique system of local coordinates (x', y') in the neighborhood of  $(x_0, 0)$ which fixes H point-wise such that:

$$F_0 \sim y' \quad et \quad G_0 \sim \exp\left(\int_{x_0}^{x'} \omega\right) y'.$$

In addition, using this above key lemma, we can prove that this discrepancy one-form  $\omega$ , is a complete invariant to classify locally pairs of regular foliations with simple tangency. In fact, we have:

**Proposition 4.2** (Local simultaneous conjugacy ). Let  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{G})$  and  $(\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}})$  be two pairs of regular foliations defined in the neighborhood of a common leaf H with simple tangency divisor. Let us consider  $(F_0, G_0)$  and  $(\tilde{F}_0, \tilde{G}_0)$  be two pairs of local minimal first integrals of the pair  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{G})$  and  $(\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}})$  respectively, defined in the neighborhood of the point  $(x_0, 0) \in H$ . If we assume that the discrepancy one-forms  $\omega$  and  $\tilde{\omega}$  associated to the pairs  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{G})$  and  $(\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}, \mathfrak{G})$  respectively are equal, then there exists a neighborhood of a point  $(x_0, 0) \in H$ , such that the pair of local first integral  $(F_0, G_0)$  and  $(\tilde{F}_0, \tilde{G}_0)$  are simultaneously conjugated by a unique analytic diffeomorphism which fixes point-wise the common leaf H. Hence, the pairs of foliations  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{G})$  and  $(\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}})$  are locally simultaneously conjugated.

*Proof.* Let  $(F_0, G_0)$  and  $(\tilde{F}_0, \tilde{G}_0)$  be two pairs of local minimal first integrals of pairs  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G})$  and  $(\tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathcal{G}})$  respectively, defined in the neighborhood of the point  $(x_0, 0) \in H$ . Then, thanks to Lemma 4.1, there exist unique local coordinates  $\phi(x', y')$  and  $\tilde{\phi}(x', y')$ , in the neighborhood of  $(x_0, 0)$ , both fixing point-wise the germ of common leaf H and such that:

$$\begin{cases} F_0 \circ \phi(x', y') = y' \\ G_0 \circ \phi(x', y') = \exp\left(\int_{x_0}^{x'} \omega\right) y' \text{ and } \begin{cases} \tilde{F}_0 \circ \tilde{\phi}(x', y') = y' \\ \tilde{G}_0 \circ \tilde{\phi}(x', y') = \exp\left(\int_{x_0}^{x'} \tilde{\omega}\right) y' \end{cases}$$

As the pairs of foliations have the same discrepancy one-form,  $\omega = \tilde{\omega}$ , then the analytic diffeomorphism  $\phi_0 = \tilde{\phi} \circ \phi^{-1}$ , conjugates the pair of first integrals  $(\tilde{F}_0, \tilde{G}_0)$  to  $(F_0, G_0)$ . Finally, this conjugation induces a local conjugation of pairs of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G})$  and  $(\tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathcal{G}})$ 

#### A. A. DIAW

4.2. Global classification of pairs of regular foliations along a common leaf. Now, the natural question is to ask how to construct an analytical extension of this local conjugation of the pairs of regular foliations along the common leaf. Thus, we will see in the following, that to have the existence of this analytical extension, it suffices that the two pairs have the same monodromy. In this case, we can extend local conjugation of the pairs of foliations in the neighborhood of H.

**Proposition 4.3.** Let  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{G})$  and  $(\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}})$  be two pairs of regular foliations defined in the neighborhood of a common leaf H with simple tangency. Let us consider  $h_{\mathfrak{F}}$  (resp.  $h_{\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}}$ ) and  $h_{\mathfrak{G}}$  (resp.  $h_{\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}}$ ) the holonomies of the foliation  $\mathfrak{F}$  (resp.  $\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}$ ) and of the foliation  $\mathfrak{G}$  (resp.  $\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}$ ) with respect to the common leaf H. If there exist analytic diffeomorphisms  $\varphi_i \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}, 0)$ , i = 1, 2, such that

$$h_{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}} = \varphi_1 \circ h_{\mathcal{F}} \circ \varphi_1^{-1}$$
 and  $h_{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}} = \varphi_2 \circ h_{\mathcal{G}} \circ \varphi_2^{-1}$ ,

Then, for any corona  $C_{r,R} = \{(x,0)/r < | x | < R\}$  inside H, there exist neighborhoods  $U, V \supset C_{r,R}$  and a local analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi: (U, C_{r,R}) \rightarrow (V, C_{r,R})$  fixing the corona  $C_{r,R}$  point-wise and such that:

$$\begin{cases} \Phi^* \tilde{\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{F} \\ \Phi^* \tilde{\mathcal{G}} = \mathcal{G} \end{cases}$$

Proof. Let  $C_{r,R} = \{(x,0)/r < | x | < R\}$  be a corona inside H and  $(x_0,0) \in C_{r,R}$ . Consider,  $\gamma(t) = (x_0 \exp(2\pi i t), 0)$  a loop at the point  $(x_0, 0)$  contained in  $C_{r,R}$ . Assume that there exists analytic diffeomorphisms  $\varphi_i$ , i = 1, 2 such that the holonomies of the foliations along the loop  $\gamma$  verify:

$$h_{\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}} = \varphi_1 \circ h_{\mathfrak{F}} \circ \varphi_1^{-1}$$
 and  $h_{\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}} = \varphi_2 \circ h_{\mathfrak{F}} \circ \varphi_2^{-1}$ .

Let us fix  $(F_0, G_0)$  and  $(\tilde{F}_0, \tilde{G}_0)$  be two pairs of local minimal first integrals of  $(\mathfrak{F}, \mathfrak{G})$  and  $(\tilde{\mathfrak{F}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}})$  respectively defined in the neighborhood of  $(x_0, 0)$ .

Without loss of generality, we can suppose that the monodromy of the local first integral  $F_0$  (resp.  $G_0$ ) is the same as that of  $\tilde{F}_0$  (resp.  $\tilde{G}_0$ ) along the loop  $\gamma$ . It means that if  $h_{\mathcal{F}} \circ F_0$  and  $h_{\mathcal{G}} \circ G_0$  are analytic continuations of the local first integrals  $F_0$  and  $G_0$  respectively along the loop  $\gamma$ , then  $h_{\mathcal{F}} \circ \tilde{F}_0$  and  $h_{\mathcal{G}} \circ \tilde{G}_0$  are respectively those of  $\tilde{F}_0$  and  $\tilde{G}_0$ . Indeed, to obtain this, it suffices to replace the local first integrals  $\tilde{F}_0$ ,  $\tilde{G}_0$  to  $\varphi_1 \circ \tilde{F}_0$ ,  $\varphi_2 \circ \tilde{G}_0$  respectively. Next, thanks to Proposition 4.2, there exists a unique local of coordinates  $\phi_0(x, y)$  defined in the neighborhood  $(x_0, 0)$  which conjugates the pairs of first integrals  $(F_0, G_0)$  and  $(\tilde{F}_0, \tilde{G}_0)$ . Thus, using the uniqueness of this local conjugation between pairs of first integrals, we can deduce that the local coordinates  $\phi_0(x, y)$  admits an analytic continuation  $\phi_{\gamma}$  along the loop  $\gamma$  which verifies that

$$h_{\mathfrak{F}} \circ F_0 \circ \phi_{\gamma} = h_{\mathfrak{F}} \circ F_0 \quad \text{and} \quad h_{\mathfrak{G}} \circ G_0 \circ \phi_{\gamma} = h_{\mathfrak{G}} \circ G_0.$$

Once more, by the uniqueness of  $\phi_0(x, y)$ , we have  $\phi_0 = \phi_{\gamma}$  in the neighborhood of  $(x_0, 0)$  and the Proposition follows.

From now on, we are going to extend these previous results to a germ of pairs of singular foliations.

4.3. Analytic classification of pairs of foliation in the neighborhood of a corona. For germs of pairs of singular foliations with simple tangency, the discrepancy one-form  $\omega$ , is defined as the associated one to the germ of pairs of induced regular foliations.

Furthermore, we can extend it to a meromorphic one form with simple pole along the germ of the horizontal separatrix  $\{y = 0\}$ . In fact, if we consider

$$\mathcal{F}_1 := \langle v_1 = x \partial_x + \lambda_1 y (1 + f_1(x, y)) \partial_y \rangle \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{F}_2 := \langle v_2 = x \partial_x + \lambda_2 y (1 + f_2(x, y)) \partial_y \rangle,$$

be a pair of foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ , such that  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ , then the meromorphic discrepancy one-form along the separatrix  $\{y = 0\}$  can be defined as

$$\omega_{\mathcal{F}} = [\lambda_1(1 + f_1(x, 0)) - \lambda_2(1 + f_2(x, 0))] \frac{dx}{x}$$

By a direct inspection, we notice that the residue of this previous meromorphic one-form  $\omega_{\mathcal{F}} = (\lambda_1(1 + f_1(x, 0)) - \lambda_2(1 + f_2(x, 0))) \frac{dx}{x}$  at 0 is equal to  $\lambda_1 - \lambda_2$ . Consequently, there exists a local change of coordinates in the neighborhood of  $0 \in \mathbb{C}$  (see [page 20, [6] ]) such that the one-form can be written as:

$$\omega_{\mathcal{F}} = \left( (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2) \frac{dx}{x} \right)$$

Therefore, without loss of generality, we can always assume that two germs of pairs of foliations defined as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{F}_i &:= \langle x \partial_x + \lambda_i y (1 + f_i(x, y)) \partial_y \rangle \,, \\ \mathfrak{G}_i &:= \langle x \partial_x + \lambda_i y (1 + g_i(x, y)) \partial_y \rangle \,, \end{aligned}$$

i = 1, 2, and  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ , have the same discrepancy one-forms.

We have the following:

**Theorem 4.4** (Analytic classification in the neighborhood of a corona). Let  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  be two pairs of foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_i &:= \langle x \partial_x + \lambda_i y (1 + f_i(x, y)) \partial_y \rangle \,, \\ \mathcal{G}_i &:= \langle x \partial_x + \lambda_i y (1 + g_i(x, y)) \partial_y \rangle \,, \end{aligned}$$

i = 1, 2, and  $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ . If there exist germs of analytic diffeomorphisms  $\varphi_i \in \text{Diff}(\mathbb{C}, 0)$  such that for any i = 1, 2 we have:

$$h_{\mathfrak{G}_1} = \varphi_1 \circ h_{\mathfrak{F}_1} \circ \varphi_1^{-1}$$
 and  $h_{\mathfrak{G}_2} = \varphi_2 \circ h_{\mathfrak{F}_2} \circ \varphi_2^{-1}$ ,

then for any corona  $C_{r,R} = \{(x,0)/r < | x | < R\}$  inside  $C := \{y = 0\}$ , there exist neighborhoods  $U, V \supset C_{r,R}$  and a germ of analytic diffeomorphism  $\Phi : (U, C_{r,R}) \rightarrow (V, C_{r,R})$  fixing the corona  $C_{r,R}$  point-wise and such that:

$$\begin{cases} \Phi^* \mathfrak{G}_1 = \mathfrak{F}_1 \\ \Phi^* \mathfrak{G}_2 = \mathfrak{F}_2 \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* According to the previous remark, modulo conjugation, two pairs of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  with the same pair of Camacho-Sad indices always have the same discrepancy one- form. Then, we can assume that  $\omega_{\mathcal{F}} = \omega_{\mathcal{G}}$ . Therefore, thanks to Proposition 4.2, if we fix two pairs of minimal local first integrals of the pairs of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$ , we obtain a local conjugation of the pairs of foliations in the neighborhood of any point  $(x_0, 0), x_0 \neq 0$ . Moreover, as the pairs of holonomies of pairs of foliations are conjugated, the theorem follows thanks to Proposition 4.3.

Method to construct an analytic conjugation of pairs of foliations on the disc

#### A. A. DIAW

According to what has just been seen, in order to construct a conjugation between the pairs of foliations on a disk, it suffices to show that any analytic conjugation of the pairs in the neighborhood of a corona can be extended into an analytic conjugation on the disk. The main idea to obtain this is the following: Let  $\Phi: (U, C_{r,R}) \to (V, C_{r,R})$ be an analytic diffeomorphism in the neighborhood of the corona which conjugates the pair of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  to the pair of foliations  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$ . Assume that there exists a transversely formal diffeomorphism  $\widehat{\zeta}: (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  along the horizontal separatrix  $\{y = 0\}$  which conjugates the pair  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  to the pair  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$ . Then, the diffeomorphism  $\delta = \Phi^{-1} \circ \widehat{\zeta}: (U, C_{r,R}) \to (U, C_{r,R})$  is a transversely formal symmetry of the pair  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$ in the neighborhood of the corona,  $(U, C_{r,R})$  fixing point-wise the corona.

- If  $\delta = Id$ , i.e.  $\Phi = \hat{\zeta}$ , then as the diffeomorphism  $\hat{\zeta}$  is transversely formal along the disk  $\{|x| < R, y = 0\}$ , there are no terms in x with a negative index in its development in Laurent series on  $(U, C_{r,R})$ . Thus,  $\Phi = \hat{\zeta}$  extends analytically on a disk containing the origin.
- If  $\delta \neq Id$ , as this symmetry is transversely formal on the neighborhood  $(U, C_{r,R})$ , then its development in Laurent series in the neighborhood  $(U, C_{r,R})$  is of the form:

$$\delta(x,y) = \left(x + \sum_{n \ge 1, m \in \mathbb{Z}} a_{mn} x^m y^n, \sum_{n \ge 1, m \in \mathbb{Z}} b_{mn} x^m y^n\right).$$

Therefore, if  $\delta = \Phi^{-1} \circ \widehat{\zeta}$  extends in a transversely formal symmetry along the disk  $\{|x| < R, y = 0\}$ , then its development in Laurent series does not have terms in x of negative index, so we have  $a_{mn} = b_{mn} = 0$ ,  $\forall m < 0$ . This property obviously implies that  $\Phi = \widehat{\zeta} \circ \delta^{-1}$  is without a negative term in the Laurent expansion ( $\delta$  and  $\zeta$  formally extend on the disk), and so converges in the neighborhood of the origin.

In addition, as any pair of foliations with simple tangency is transversely formally conjugated to its pair of normal forms (see the Corollary 3.5), then the transversely formal symmetries on  $(U, C_{r,R})$  of the pair  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  extend as a transversely formal symmetry along the disk  $\{|x| < R, y = 0\}$  if and only if the transversely formal symmetries on  $(U, C_{r,R})$  of the pair of normal forms  $(\mathcal{F}_1^0, \mathcal{F}_2^0)$  extend along the disk. Therefore, the problem of classifying analytically the pairs of foliations  $(\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2)$  and  $(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$  on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ can be seen as to that of classifying the symmetries of the pairs of normal forms which are transversely formal on  $(U, C_{r,R})$  and which, moreover, fix the corona point-wise.

## 4.4. On the transversely formal symmetries of pairs of singular foliations. Let

$$\mathcal{F}_i = \langle \omega_i = x dy - y \lambda_i (1 + f_i(x, y)] dx \rangle$$

 $(i = 1, 2), \lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$ , both non-zero, be a pair of foliations on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ . Let us denote by  $\mathcal{F}_i^0$ , i = 1, 2, the foliation defined by the formal normal form of  $\omega_i$ . We have the following:

Theorem 4.5. Let

$$\delta(x,y) = \left(x + \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n(x)y^n, \sum_{n \ge 1} b_n(x)y^n\right)$$

be a transversely formal symmetry on  $(U, C_{r,R})$  of the pair of formal normal forms  $(\mathcal{F}_1^0, \mathcal{F}_2^0)$ . Suppose that neither  $\mathcal{F}_1^0$  nor  $\mathcal{F}_2^0$  have no holomorphic first integrals. We have:

• If  $\mathcal{F}_1^0 := \langle \omega_1 = xdy - \lambda_1 ydx \rangle$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2^0 := \langle \omega_2 = xdy - \lambda_2 ydx \rangle$ , then :

$$\delta(x,y) = (x,by)$$
 where  $b \in \mathbb{C}^*$ .

• *If* 

$$\mathcal{F}_1^0 := <\omega_1 = xdy - \lambda_1 ydx >$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_{2}^{0} := <\omega_{2} = p(1 + (\alpha - 1)u_{1}^{k})ydx + q(1 + \alpha u_{1}^{k})xdy > where (p,q) = 1 and u_{1} = x^{p}y^{q} then :$$

$$\delta(x,y) = (x,by) \circ \exp(t_2 V_2)$$
 where  $b^{\kappa q} = 1$ ,  $t_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ ,

and such that the vector field  $V_2$  is holomorphic on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ .

$$\mathcal{F}_1^0 := <\omega_1 = p(1 + (\alpha - 1)u_1^k)ydx + q(1 + \alpha u_1^k)xdy >$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_{2}^{0} := <\omega_{2} = p'(1 + (\beta - 1)u_{2}^{k'})ydx + q'(1 + \beta u_{2}^{k'})xdy >$$
  
where  $(p,q) = 1$ ,  $(p',q') = 1$ ,  $\frac{p}{q} \neq \frac{p'}{q'}$ ,  $u_{1} = x^{p}y^{q}$ , and  $u_{2} = x^{p'}y^{q'}$ , then  
 $\delta(x,y) = (x,by) \circ \exp(t_{1}V_{1} + t_{2}V_{2})$  where  $b^{kq} = 1$ ,  $b^{k'q'} = 1$ ,  $t_{i} \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  
and such that the vector fields  $V_{i}$ ,  $(i = 1, 2)$  are holomorphic on  $(\mathbb{C}^{2}, 0)$ .

Before proving this theorem, we need to establish some key lemmas.

**Lemma 4.6.** Let  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$  be two closed meromorphic formal one-forms defined on the neighborhood of a corona  $(U, C_{R,r})$ , and such that their associated foliations are transverse outside the corona. Let us consider the set

 $\widehat{\mathfrak{X}}(\Omega_1,\Omega_2) = \{ \text{formal vector fields on } (U,C_{R,r}) \text{ symmetric both to } \Omega_1 \text{ and } \Omega_2 \}.$ 

Then, there exist two commuting formal vector fields  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  such that for any  $\hat{X} \in \widehat{\mathcal{X}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2)$ , there exist constants  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  verifying:

$$\widehat{X} = t_1 \mathbf{V}_1 + t_2 \mathbf{V}_2.$$

*Proof.* The vector fields  $V_i$ , (i = 1, 2), are defined as:

$$\begin{cases} \Omega_1 (V_1) = 1 \\ \Omega_2 (V_1) = 0 \end{cases} \quad \text{et} \quad \begin{cases} \Omega_1 (V_2) = 0 \\ \Omega_2 (V_2) = 1 \end{cases}$$

Therefore, the vector fields  $V_i$  are common Lie symmetries of the one-forms  $\Omega_i$  on  $(U, C_{R,r})$ . Moreover, due to the fact that the one-forms  $\Omega_i$  are closed, a direct inspection shows that  $[V_1, V_2] = 0$ . Let  $\hat{X} \in \hat{\mathcal{X}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2)$ . Assume that  $\hat{X}$  preserves the divisor of tangency  $Tang(\Omega_1, \Omega_2)$ . As the vector fields  $V_i$  are transverse outside the tangency divisor, there exists formal meromorphic functions  $\hat{h}_i$ , i = 1, 2, such that

$$\widehat{X} = \widehat{h}_1 V_1 + \widehat{h}_2 V_2.$$

Using the commutativity and the transversality of vector fields  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ , the functions  $\hat{h}_i = t_i$  become constants. The lemma follows.

**Remark 4.7.** According to the normal forms of germs of non-degenerate foliations, for every i = 1, 2, the germ of normal forms  $\mathcal{F}_i^0$  is generated by a germ of 1-holomorphic form  $\omega_i$  which has an integrating factor denoted by  $F_i$ . Thus, the one-form

$$\Omega_i := \frac{\omega_i}{\mathbf{F}_i}$$

is a germ of closed meromorphic 1-form. We shall say that  $\Omega_i$  is the germ of one-closed meromorphic form associated with the germ of foliations  $\mathcal{F}_i^0$ . For instance, in the Siegel domain, it is defined as follows :

21

• if  $\omega := xdy - \lambda_1 ydx$ , then its associated closed 1-meromorphic form is

$$\Omega := \frac{dy}{y} - \lambda_1 \frac{dx}{x};$$

• if  $\omega := p(1 + (\alpha - 1)u_1^k)ydx + q(1 + \alpha u_1^k)xdy$ , then  $pqxyu_1^k$  is an integrating factor of  $\omega$  and therefore its associated closed meromorphic 1-form is:

$$\Omega := \frac{1 + (\alpha - 1)u_1^k}{qu_1^k} \frac{dx}{x} + \frac{1 + \alpha u_1^k}{pu_1^k} \frac{dy}{y}.$$

In both cases, any other closed meromorphic 1-form defining the foliation is of the form  $c.\Omega$  for a constant  $c \in \mathbb{C}^*$ . Furthermore, if the Camacho-Sad indices of the foliations generated by the closed one-forms  $\Omega_i$ , i = 1, 2, are different, then the vector fields  $V_i$  defined in the Lemma 4.6, extend holomorphically on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ .

We also have the following lemma which makes it possible to characterize the symmetries of the closed forms associated with the normal forms in the Siegel domain.

**Lemma 4.8.** Let  $\mathcal{F}_{\omega} = \langle \omega = xdy - \lambda y(1 + f(x, y))dx \rangle$  be a germ of formal normal forms in the Siegel domain without a non-constant first integral at the origin.

If  $\Upsilon: (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  is a transversely formal symmetry of  $\mathfrak{F}_{\omega}$  along a corona  $C_{R,r}$  in y = 0, then  $\Upsilon$  is a (transversely formal) symmetry of the associated closed meromorphic 1-form  $\Omega$  which additionally verifies :

$$\Upsilon^*\Omega = \Omega$$

*Proof.* Since  $\Upsilon : (\mathbb{C}^2, 0) \to (\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$  is a symmetry of the foliation defined by  $\omega = 0$ , then it verifies the equation

$$\Upsilon^*\omega\wedge\omega=0\quad\Longleftrightarrow\quad\Upsilon^*\Omega\wedge\Omega=0.$$

Therefore, there is a transversely formal function F along  $C_{R,r}$  such that

$$\Upsilon^*\Omega = F\Omega.$$

Hence,

$$d\Omega = 0 \implies d\mathbf{F} \wedge \Omega = 0.$$

Thus, the function F is a first integral of  $\mathcal{F}_{\omega}$  on the corona. Thanks to Mattei-Moussu (see [10]), F extends at the origin and must therefore be constant by hypotheses. We then have

$$\Upsilon^*\Omega = cste\,\Omega.$$

As the symmetry  $\Upsilon$  fixes the horizontal separatrix, the residue of the 1-meromorphic form  $\Omega$  along the horizontal separatrix is invariant by the symmetry  $\Upsilon$  hence the constant cste = 1. Note that, the case where the residue of  $\Omega$  is zero, is called a case resonant (see Proposition 1.21, with  $\alpha = 0$ ). In this case, we can verify that  $\Omega$  must be invariant by the centralizer of the holonomy of  $\mathcal{F}_{\omega}$  (in restriction to a transversal) [see [6, Prop 1.3.2 and §5.2.2]); since the  $\Upsilon$  commute with the holonomy, it is in the centralizer and must therefore preserve  $\Omega$ .

Now we can give a proof of the Theorem 4.5.

Proof. Let

$$\delta(x,y) = \left(x + \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n(x)y^n, \sum_{n \ge 1} b_n(x)y^n\right),$$

be a transversely formal symmetry on  $(U, C_{r,R})$  of the pair of formal normal forms  $(\mathcal{F}_1^0, \mathcal{F}_2^0)$ , and assume that the foliations do not have non-constant holomorphic first integrals. Denote by  $\Omega_1, \Omega_2$ , the closed meromorphic one-forms associated to  $\mathcal{F}_1^0$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2^0$  respectively. Then, by Lemma 4.8, the symmetry  $\delta$  can be decomposed a:

$$\delta(x, y) = (x, by) \circ \exp(X)(x, y),$$

 $(b \neq 0)$ , such that the diffeomorphism  $(x, y) \mapsto (x, by)$  preserves the pair  $(\mathcal{F}_1^0, \mathcal{F}_2^0)$ , and the formal vector fields  $\hat{X} \in \hat{\mathcal{X}}(\Omega_1, \Omega_2)$ . Thus, thanks to the Lemma 4.6 and the Remark 4.7, the vector fields  $\hat{X}$  can be written as  $\hat{X} = t_1V_1 + t_2V_2$ , where  $t_i, i = 1, 2$ , are constants and the vector fields  $V_i, i = 1, 2$ , are holomorphic on  $(\mathbb{C}^2, 0)$ .

**Remark 4.9.** The case where one of the normals forms admits a holomorphic first integral (i.e.  $\omega = pxdy + qydx$ ) is more complicated due to the existence of infinitely many symmetries. We need to use other techniques for this particular case. We are currently working on it and we will publish it very soon in another article.

Acknowledgements. The author Adjaratou Arame Diaw was partially supported by CMUP, member of LASI, which is financed by national funds through FCT –Fundaçãopara a Ciência e a Tecnologia, I.P., under the projects with reference UIDB/00144/2020 and UIDP/00144/2020.

This work was also partially supported by ANR-16-CE40-0008 "Foliage" grant, CAPES-COFECUB Ma 932/19 project, Université de Rennes 1 and Centre Henri Lebesgue CHL.

#### References

- [1] Marco Abate et al. Local dynamics of singular holomorphic foliations. ETS, 2009.
- [2] Marco Brunella. Subharmonic variation of the leafwise Poincaré metric. Invent. Math., 152(1):119– 148, 2003.
- [3] Felipe Cano, Dominique Cerveau, and Julie Déserti. Théorie élémentaire des feuilletages holomorphes singuliers. Belin, 2013.
- [4] Adjaratou Arame Diaw and Frank Loray. Pairs of foliations and mattei-moussu's theorem. Bulletin des Sciences Mathématiques, 171:103035, 2021.
- [5] Frank Loray. Versal deformation of the analytic saddle-node. Astérisque, (297):167–188, 2004.
- [6] Frank Loray. Pseudo-groupe d'une singularité de feuilletage holomorphe en dimension deux. 2006.
- [7] Frank Loray, Olivier Thom, and Frédéric Touzet. Two-dimensional neighborhoods of elliptic curves: formal classification and foliations. Mosc. Math. J., 19(2):357–392, 2019.
- [8] Francisco Icaro Maciel Forte Chaves. Holonomy and equivalence of analytic foliations. PhD thesis, Mulhouse, 2021.
- [9] Jean Martinet and Jean-Pierre Ramis. Classification analytique des équations différentielles non linéaires résonnantes du premier ordre. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 16(4):571–621 (1984), 1983.
- [10] J.-F. Mattei and R. Moussu. Holonomie et intégrales premières. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 13(4):469–523, 1980.
- Jürgen Moser. On the volume elements on a manifold. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 120(2):286–294, 1965.
- [12] Kyoji Saito. Theory of logarithmic differential forms and logarithmic vector fields. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math., 27(2):265–291, 1980.
- [13] Abraham Seidenberg. Reduction of singularities of the differential equation ady= bdx. American Journal of Mathematics, 90(1):248–269, 1968.
- [14] Olivier Thom. Classification locale de bifeuilletages holomorphes sur les surfaces complexes. Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 47(4):989–1005, 2016.

UNIV CHEIKH ANTA DIOP DE DAKAR, DAKAR, SENEGAL Email address: aramdiaw2@gmail.com